
For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD relay 
service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
Tuesday, October 14, 2014                                                                                                 City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION 

• Safe Schools Week Proclamation – Week of October 19-25, 2014 
• Make a Difference Day Proclamation – October 25, 2014 
• National Community Planning Month Proclamation – October 2014 
• Soos Creek Water & Sewer Presentation on Wax Road Project (Ron Speer, General Manager, 

Soos Creek Water & Sewer and Greg Hill, Stantec) 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, 
not the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes 
per speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  August 12, 2014 Regular Meeting (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-3. Approve Amendment to Agreement for Design Services for SR516 Project (Vondran) 
C-4. Approve Interlocal Agreement for Urban Restoration Services (Feser) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
1. Consider Appointment to the Covington Economic Development Council (Council) 
2. Interim City Manager Presents 2015 Budget Message (Hendrickson) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 

PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 

ADJOURN 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


Consent Agenda Item C-1 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  October 14, 2014   
 
SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  AUGUST 12, 2014 CITY COUNCIL REGULAR 

MEETING MINUTES 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Sharon G. Scott, City Clerk 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):  Proposed Minutes 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:  
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance   _____ Resolution     X     Motion              Other  
 

Councilmember __________ moves, Councilmember ___________ 
seconds, to approve the August 12, 2014 City Council Regular 
Meeting Minutes. 

 
 
 

 

1 of 75



Unapproved Draft – August 12, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  October 14, 2014 
 

City of Covington 
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 

Tuesday, August 12, 2014 
 
(This meeting was recorded and will be retained for a period of six years from the date of the 
meeting). 
 
The Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Covington was called to order in the City 
Council Chambers, 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington, Washington, Tuesday, August 
14, 2014, at 7:02 p.m., with Mayor Margaret Harto presiding. 
 
COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT: 
Margaret Harto, Joe Cimaomo, Mark Lanza (arrived @ 7:05 p.m.), Marlla Mhoon, Jim Scott, 
Wayne Snoey, and Jeff Wagner. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Mhoon moved and Councilmember Scott seconded to 
excuse Councilmember Lanza.  Vote:  6-0.  Motion carried. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Rob Hendrickson, Interim City Manager; Don Vondran, Public Works Director; Noreen Beaufrere, 
Personnel Manager; Kevin Klason, Covington Police Chief; Karla Slate, Communications & 
Marketing Manager; Scott Thomas, Parks & Recreation Director; Sara Springer, City Attorney; Bob 
Lindskov, City Engineer; Salina Lyons, Principal Planner; and Sharon Scott, City Clerk/Executive 
Assistant. 
 
Mayor Harto opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
Council Action:  Councilmember Mhoon moved and Councilmember Snoey seconded to 
approve the Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATION: 

• Jackie Jamero Berganio, King County Mental Health, Chemical Abuse and Dependency 
Services Division, accepted the September 2014 National Recovery Month Proclamation. 

 
Mayor Harto introduced Boy Scout Anthony Mastroianni, Troop 517, Foothills District, who 
was currently working on his communications merit badge. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT:   
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
George Gedevanishvili, 18621 SE 256th Street, Covington, requested a ban on fireworks and 
requested feedback. 
 
There being no further comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 

2 of 75



Unapproved Draft – August 12, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  October 14, 2014 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: 
C-1. Minutes:  June 10, 2014 City Council Special Joint Study Session with Parks & Recreation 

Commission Minutes; June 10, 2014 City Council Regular Meeting Minutes; and June 24, 
2014 City Council Special Study Session Minutes. 

 
C-2. Vouchers:  Vouchers #31316-31316, in the Amount of $300.00, Dated July 15, 2014; 

Vouchers #31317-31374, including ACH Payments, in the Amount of $273,240.74, Dated 
July 22, 2014; Vouchers #31375-31375, in the Amount of $500.00, Dated July 31, 2014; 
Vouchers #31376-31376, in the Amount of $385.70, Dated August 1, 2014; Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002632101-1002632115 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $173,277.22, Dated July 18, 2014; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002682745-
1002682759 and Paylocity Checks #1002682810-1002682810 Inclusive, Plus Employee 
Direct Deposits in the Amount of $181,170.14, Dated August 1, 2014. 
 

C-3. Approve King County Interlocal Agreement for SoCo Park Grant Funding. 
 

C-4. Award Bid for Aquatics Center Roofing Project. 
 
Council Action:  Mayor Pro Tem Wagner moved and Councilmember Snoey seconded to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: 
1.  Receive Comments and Consider Ordinance Extending the Moratorium on Medical 
Marijuana Production and Processing Facilities, Dispensaries, and Collective Gardens for Six 
Months. 
 
City Attorney Sara Springer gave the staff report for this item. 
 
Mayor Harto called for public comments for the public hearing. 
 
There being no public comments, Mayor Harto closed the comment period for the public 
hearing. 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 10-14 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, TO EXTEND THE MORATORIUM 
ON THE ESTABLISHMENT, LOCATION, OPERATION, LICENSING, 
MAINTENANCE, OR CONTINUATION OF MEDICAL MARIJUANA 
DISPENSARIES, PRODUCTION FACILITIES, PROCESSING 
FACILITIES, COLLECTIVE GARDENS, AND RELATED 
BUSINESSES WITHIN THE CITY OF COVINGTON FOR SIX 
MONTHS; PROVIDING FOR A PUBLIC HEARING ON THE 
MORATORIUM; ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACT SUPPORTING 
THE MORATORIUM ADOPTED BY ORDINANCE NOs. 08-11, 12-12, 
01-13, 07-13, AND 05-14; AND PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY. 

3 of 75



Unapproved Draft – August 12, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  October 14, 2014 
 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Mayor Pro Tem Wagner seconded to 
adopt Ordinance No. 10-14 to extend the moratorium on medical marijuana collective 
gardens, production and processing facilities, dispensaries, and related businesses for an 
additional six months.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
2.  Coal Train Briefing. 
 
City Engineer Bob Lindskov gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Mr. Lindskov and Public Works 
Director Don Vondran provided responses. 
 
Council Action:  There was Council consensus to direct staff to create a letter for Council 
review to be sent to a list of appropriate agencies (including federal, state and county) 
expressing concern regarding the economic and transportation issues and health risks 
associated with coal trains and requesting the agencies to keep Covington informed in 
regards to being able to comment on the EIS. 
 
3.  Resolution Approving Development Agreement with Covington Mixed Use. 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, APPROVING 
THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A DEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH GEMSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC FOR THE 
POLARIS AND AFFINITY AT COVINGTON DEVELOPMENTS, 
KNOWN AS THE COVINGTON MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT, 
CITY FILE NO. LU14-0006/0010. 

 
Council Action:  Councilmember Lanza moved and Mayor Pro Tem Wagner seconded to 
pass Resolution No. 14-15 authorizing the interim city manager to execute a development 
agreement with Gemstar Properties, LLC for the Polaris and Affinity at Covington 
developments, known as the Covington Mixed-Use development, City File No. LU14-
0006/0010, in substantial form as provided in the Council meeting agenda packet.  Vote:  7-
0.  Motion carried. 
 
4.  Report on Covington Days. 
 
Communications & Marketing Manager Karla Slate gave a PowerPoint presentation on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided responses and asked questions, and Ms. Slate and Police Chief Kevin 
Klason provided responses. 
 

4 of 75



Unapproved Draft – August 12, 2014 Regular Meeting Minutes 
Submitted for Approval:  October 14, 2014 
 
5.  Review Proposals for City Manager Recruitment. 
 
Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers provided comments and asked questions, and Ms. Beaufrere provided 
responses. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Councilmember Mhoon seconded to 
select Prothman to provide the professional services required to conduct the search for a 
city manager.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
6.  2014 Second Quarter Financial Report. 
 
Interim City Manager Rob Hendrickson gave the staff report on this item. 
 
Councilmembers asked questions, and Mr. Hendrickson and Principal Planner Salina Lyons 
provided responses. 
 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS: 
Councilmembers and staff discussed Future Agenda Topics and made comments. 
 
Council Action:  Councilmember Snoey moved and Councilmember Scott seconded to 
cancel the August 26 council meeting.  Vote:  7-0.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS: 
Mayor Harto called for public comments. 
 
There being no comments, Mayor Harto closed the public comment period. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 9:15 p.m. 
 
Prepared by:      Submitted by:  
 
__________________________________         
Joan Michaud      Sharon Scott 
Senior Deputy City Clerk    City Clerk 

5 of 75



Consent Agenda Item C-2 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  October 14, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVAL OF VOUCHERS  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)

 

:  Vouchers #31543-31597, including ACH Payments, in the Amount of 
$789,758.13, Dated September 16, 2014; Electronic Funds Transfer, in the Amount of 
$3,964.45, Dated September 26, 2014; Vouchers #31598-31640, including ACH Payments and 
Electronic Funds Transfer, in the Amount of $195,784.12, Dated October 1, 2014; Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002874422-1002874446 and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002874603-
1002874603 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the Amount of $162,955.04, Dated 
September 26, 2014; and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002921449-10029291465 and Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002921502-1002921502 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $159,494.50. 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers #31543-31597, including ACH 
Payments, in the Amount of $789,758.13, Dated September 16, 2014; 
Electronic Funds Transfer, in the Amount of $3,964.45, Dated September 
26, 2014; Vouchers #31598-31640, including ACH Payments and 
Electronic Funds Transfer, in the Amount of $195,784.12, Dated October 
1, 2014; Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002874422-1002874446 and Paylocity 
Payroll Checks #1002874603-1002874603 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct 
Deposits in the Amount of $162,955.04, Dated September 26, 2014; and 
Paylocity Payroll Checks #1002921449-10029291465 and Paylocity Payroll 
Checks #1002921502-1002921502 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits 
in the Amount of $159,494.50. 
 
 
 
  
 

 

6 of 75



7 of 75



8 of 75



9 of 75



10 of 75



11 of 75



12 of 75



13 of 75



14 of 75



15 of 75



16 of 75



17 of 75



18 of 75



19 of 75



20 of 75



21 of 75



22 of 75



23 of 75



24 of 75



25 of 75



26 of 75



27 of 75



28 of 75



29 of 75



30 of 75



31 of 75



32 of 75



Consent Agenda Item C-3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  October 14, 2014 
 
SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE INTERIM CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE SUPPLEMENT 

NUMBER 2 WITH TETRA TECH FOR THE SR 516: JENKINS CREEK TO 
185TH PROJECT. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Interim City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENT(S):   
1. Supplemental Agreement Number 2 
2. Local Agency Agreement Supplement Number 2 
 
PREPARED BY:  Don Vondran, Public Works Director 
 
EXPLANATION: 
On March 27, 2012, Council authorized entering into an agreement for design services with 
Tetra Tech for the SR 516: Jenkins Creek to 185th Project.  In January of 2013, a supplement was 
approved in the amount $25,914 for additional geotechnical work that needed to be conducted at 
night due to traffic control issues on SR 516 at Jenkins Creek.  Supplement Number 2 is 
primarily associated with the additional survey and environmental analysis associated with 
identifying a suitable wetland mitigation site for the project.  In addition, there have been costs 
incurred associated with incorporating a future trail crossing into the bridge design at Jenkins 
Creek.  The full scope of work is included as Exhibit A of Attachment 1.   
 
There are two forms that need to be executed as part of the proposed supplement.  The first is the 
supplemental agreement with Tetra Tech (Attachment 1) to conduct the work and the second is 
with WSDOT (Attachment 2) that identifies how the supplement is funded since the project has 
federal funding.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The supplement is in the amount of $135,815.57 for the additional work.  The additional cost 
will be covered by traffic impact fees that have been collected with a current balance of $1.46 
million.  A portion of that traffic impact fee balance (approximately $400,000) is budgeted to 
help cover the Right of Way (ROW) phase of the project.  The ROW phase has an additional 
$800,000 legislative appropriation to fully fund that phase.      
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  ____ Ordinance               Resolution       X    Motion             Other  
 

Council member ______________ moves, Council member ______________ 
seconds, to authorize the Interim City Manager to execute Supplemental 
Agreement Number 2 with Tetra Tech in the amount of $135,815.57 and 
Local Agency Agreement Supplement Number 2 with WSDOT for the SR 
516: Jenkins Creek to 185th Project. 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager, City Attorney, Deputy Finance Director 

33 of 75



34 of 75



35 of 75



36 of 75



37 of 75



38 of 75



39 of 75



40 of 75



41 of 75



42 of 75



43 of 75



44 of 75



45 of 75



46 of 75



47 of 75



48 of 75



49 of 75



50 of 75



51 of 75



52 of 75



53 of 75



Local Agency Agreement Supplement

Project Description

Description of Work

Name Length

Termini

SR 516: Jenkins Creek to 185th Place SE 0.50 Miles

Vicinity of Jenkins Creek to the Vicinity of 185th Place SE

DOT Form 140-041 EF
Revised 03/2011

64,300.00

847,656.00

24,000.00

1,500,304.00

1,500,304.00

847,656.00

24,000.00

135,816.00 1,636,120.00

135,816.00 1,636,120.00

64,300.00

Supplement Number

2

Agency

Federal Aid Project Number Agreement Number

LA 7691STP-0516 (022)

City of Covington

The Local Agency requests to supplement the agreement entered into and executed on

All provisions in the basic agreement remain in effect except as modified by this supplement.

4/5/2012

The changes to the agreement are as follows:

Reason for Supplement
Supplemental Survey and additional Cultural Resources Investigation for Wetland Mitigation Site.  Finalizing WSDOT design

approvals for Bridge and Channelization.  Incorporation of future trail crossing at Jenkins Creek into environmental permit analysis

as well as bridge and wall designs. Additional Project Management time.

8,680.00

114,434.00

3,240.00

826,518.00

826,518.00

55,620.00

733,222.00

20,760.00

809,602.00

809,602.00

The Local Agency further stipulates that pursuant to said Title 23, regulations and policies and procedures, and as a condition

to payment of the Federal funds obligated, it accepts and will comply with the applicable provisions.

Agency Official Washington State Department of Transportation

By

Title

Date Executed

By

Director of Highways and Local Programs

Type of Work

PE

Right of Way

Construction

a. Agency

b. Other

d. State

e. Total PE Cost Estimate (a+b+c+d)

Consultant

f. Agency

g. Other

i. State

j. Total R/W Cost Estimate (f+g+h+i)

k. Contract

l.  Other

m. Other

o. Agency

p. State

q. Total CN Cost Estimate (k+l+m+n+o+p)

r. Total Project Cost Estimate (e+j+q)

Federal Aid

Participation

Ratio for PE

Federal Aid

Participation

Ratio for RW

Federal Aid

Participation

Ratio for CN

%

%

%

Estimate of Funding

(3) (4) (5)

Federal Funds
Estimated

Funds
Estimated Agency

Project Funds
Estimated Total

(1)

Agreement/Suppl.
Previous

(2)

Supplement

CFDA No. 20.205

.

No Change

(Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance)

c. Other Consultant (non-participate) 564,348.00 135,816.00 700,164.00700,164.00

h.  Other

n. Other

Yes NoDoes this change require additional Right of Way or Easements?

ATTACHMENT 2

54 of 75



Consent Agenda Item C-4 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date:  October 14, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  APPROVE AN INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT WITH THE STATE OF 

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES FOR URBAN 
FORESTRY RESTORATION PROGRAM SERVICES 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Scott Thomas, Parks and Recreation Director 
                                          
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. Interagency Agreement No. IAA 15-62 
 
PREPARED BY:  Angie Feser, Parks Planner  
 
EXPLANATION: 
The State of Washington Department of Natural Resources provides a service through the 
Community Forestry Program for urban forestry maintenance and restorations tasks. This 
interagency agreement between DNR and the city of Covington for Puget SoundCorps 
(SoundCorps) crew will provide this work under the Urban Forestry Restoration Project during 
the 2014-2015 project year. SoundCorps is part of the broader Washington Conservation 
Corps/AmeriCorps program administered by Washington Department of Ecology. SoundCorps 
crew work is focused on projects that help restore and protect water quality in Puget Sound, a 
perfect fit for urban forestry maintenance and restoration in the Puget Sound basin.  
 
The crew is scheduled to work with the city of Covington the month of August 2015. The 
services will mainly consist of providing much needed pruning and maintenance for many of the 
city’s more than 2,000 street trees.  
 
This work also effectively uses the tree health information generated from the recently 
completed city tree inventory, which was also a DNR grant program. Both of these work 
programs of the tree inventory and tree-health targeted maintenance are implementing 
recommendations of the 2013 Urban Forestry Strategic Plan.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Do not enter into the agreement and do not perform the work.  
2. Conduct the work using city resources.  

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
The city’s cost is negligible as it only requires administrative time by the Park Planner to 
coordinate with DNR and the work crew. The city’s benefit is $20,000 of street tree maintenance 
that we could not otherwise afford.  
 

55 of 75



CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance        Resolution    X   Motion         Other 
 

Council member ____________ moves, Council member _________________ 
seconds, to authorize the city manager to enter into an interagency 
agreement with State of Washington Department of Natural Resources to 
accept services of Puget SoundCorp crew for urban forestry maintenance 
and restoration tasks and to abide by the requirements therein. 
 

REVIEWED BY: Interim City Manager, City Attorney, Deputy Finance Director, Parks and 
Recreation Director 

56 of 75



ATTACHMENT 1

57 of 75



58 of 75



59 of 75



60 of 75



61 of 75



62 of 75



Agenda Item 1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: October 14, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:   APPOINTMENT TO OPENING ON THE COVINGTON ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL (CEDC).  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:   Rob Hendrickson, Interim City Manager 

Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
         
ATTACHMENT(S): See Interview Schedule and Applications provided separately. 
 
PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION:     
One position remains open on CEDC due to an applicant Council appointed on July 31 having a 
conflict with the regular meeting schedule and being unable to attend the CEDC meetings.  The 
city received two applications for appointment to CEDC as follows: 
 
Name of Applicant          
Ed Cook (former CEDC member) 
Paul Selland 
   
ALTERNATIVES: 
Not appoint at this time and direct staff to continue to advertise for additional applicants. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:  _____ Ordinance            Resolution      X     Motions              Other  

 
Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to appoint _______________ to fill a position on the Covington 
Economic Development Council with a term expiring July 31, 2016.  
 

REVIEWED BY: Interim City Manager  
 Community Development Director 
   

63 of 75



Agenda Item 2  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: October 14, 2014 
 
SUBJECT:  2015 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET PRESENTATION  
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Interim City Manager                                      
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 

1. 2015 Budget Workbook (under separate cover) 
2. Budget Message 

 
PREPARED BY:   
Rob Hendrickson, Interim City Manager 
 
EXPLANATION: 
The Interim City Manager will present the 2015 Operating and Capital Budget.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
N/A 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:           Ordinance              Resolution_____Motion        X    Other 
 

Ask questions of staff 
 

REVIEWED BY:  Interim City Manager 
 
 

64 of 75



 

 

City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
 
City Hall – 253.480.2400 
www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

October 14, 2014 
 
 
Dear Mayor Harto, Mayor Pro Tem Wagner, Honorable Councilmembers, Residents and Businesses of 
Covington: 
 
It is my pleasure to present the 2015 Preliminary Operating and Capital Budget. This budget 
encompasses and implements council policies and conforms to state law.  
 
At the beginning of 2014, Moody’s Investors Service upgraded the city’s bond rating from an Aa2 to an 
Aa3. The underlying factors driving the rating increase were a significantly improved financial profile and 
positive multi-year trends. Other considerations include the city’s strong financial management, history of 
solid reserve levels, and modest debt burden.  

The 2015 Operating and Capital Budget strives to continue with those elements in mind. However, a 
familiar theme begins to emerge as we begin the transition from 2014 to 2015. The general fund 
continues to be the “go to” fund as streets and parks continue to struggle.  

We saw record sales tax revenues in 2013.  However, the market has shifted somewhat for 2014 and 
sales tax revenues are coming in lower than forecast.  Utility tax revenues have increased this year 
partially due to the completed Comcast utility tax audit which has brought in additional revenue for cable 
and telephone utility taxes. In addition real estate excise tax funds which were initially designated to 
support bond payments are continuing to languish and put pressure on the general fund to fill the gap. 
 
While the general fund continues to be strong overall, the programs that were decided outside of the 
budget process such as athletics and staffing add to the growing list of items the general fund supports 
including the street and parks fund.  For streets, the City Council created a Transportation Benefit District 
(TBD) in 2013.  Creating the TBD was an important step in the city’s overall financial strategy to support 
the street fund and the general fund.  Even though the 2013 ballot proposition failed, the city still has 
options and we will discuss next steps in the near future.  For parks, an infusion of general fund money is 
being allocated to cover one-time costs and new programs and staffing for 2015.  With the increase in 
development activity the development services fund is also projected to bring in more revenue than 
expenditures in the next several years, while the surface water management fund (SWM) continues its 
strong financial position.   
 
The Association of Washington Cities continues to work on the city’s behalf to control health care costs 
and as such the city will only be seeing an increase of 4.8 percent which is well below the double digit 
increases of the early 2000’s.  While the COLA has increased by a percent over last year it is still within 
historical norms at 2.2 percent.   
 
Economic Outlook1

 
  

On a national level, the economy shows strength in areas such auto sales, residential construction, and 
existing home sales.  Consumer confidence measures also are continuing to increase.  However, factors 
on a global scale continue to bring potential risk to the national economy and the State including the 
potential slowing of the Chinese economy and instability in the Middle East and Eastern Europe.   
 
 

                                                           
1 Economic information is supplied by the Puget Sound Economic Forecaster, Volume 22 Number 3 September 2014 

ATTACHMENT 2

65 of 75



 

 

City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
 
City Hall – 253.480.2400 
www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

The state’s unemployment rate was 5.6 percent in August, the same rate as in July but down from 7.0 
percent in August 2013. Currently, the annual percent change in employment growth is 2.5 percent and is 
expected to decrease slightly to 1.5 percent in 2015.  If the anticipated job losses at Boeing and Microsoft 
are offset by gains at Amazon, the Puget Sound region should continue its long-term trend of 
outperforming the nation by creating 307,000 new jobs over the next ten years.  
 
In the Puget Sound region, retail sales are expected to hit a 4.2 percent pace through the end of the year. 
This pace is being fueled in part by rising prices and an increase in real growth. For 2015 retail sales are 
expected to increase slightly to 4.5 percent.  The City is projecting a 3 percent increase in sales tax 
revenue over 2014 estimates. 
 
The consumer price index for the Puget Sound is forecast to rise slightly from 2.4 percent in 2013 to 2.5 
percent in 2014 and remain unchanged for 2015.   
 
Budget Process 
 
The 2015 budget process began in June with the annual budget call. At that time, the calendar and 
decision card criteria were reviewed with the directors and budget team. For 2015, directors were 
encouraged to be thoughtful with the number of decision cards they submit.  Beginning in August, the 
finance team and I met with individual directors to review base budgets and decision cards. Once these 
meetings were completed and the preliminary forecast was reviewed, the deputy finance director and I 
met to discuss which decision cards would move forward.  
 
The following four guiding principles are used in the budget decision making process:  
 

• Favor one-time over ongoing programs (due to the still-fragile nature of economy) 

• Address imminent mandates (such as comprehensive plan update) 

• Maintain what we have (people, programs, and infrastructure) 

• Achieve efficiencies (via investments in equipment and technology) 

These principles and the final budget decisions were reviewed with members of the management team at 
the end of September.  
 
2015 Budget Strategies 
 

• Use fund balance only in cases where funds have deficits to cover (for 2015 that would be the 
general fund, street fund). 

• Utilize the general fund to support the parks fund for one-time and ongoing programs such as 
athletics. 

• Utilize the SWM rate study to address future operating and capital needs. 
 
Funds Overview 

General Fund  
The general fund is the largest city fund and provides for the day-to-day operations of city government.  
 
In 2015, we are forecasting a 5.6 percent total increase in revenues over 2014 estimates for the entire 
fund.   

66 of 75



 

 

City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
 
City Hall – 253.480.2400 
www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

 
• Property tax for 2015 is estimated to be $2.5 million. This includes a one percent increase plus 

new construction.  
• Sales tax revenue for 2015 is expected to increase by 3 percent over 2014 estimated collections. 

Both food services revenue and retail sales have been increasing.  Total sales tax collections for 
2014 are estimated to be $3.29 million, with the general fund receiving 84 percent ($2.77 million) 
and the parks fund 16 percent ($527,000). 

• Utility tax collections for 2014 are estimated at $2.13 million, 2.5 percent above forecast due 
mostly in part by the recent Comcast utility tax audit that brought in additional funds. For 2015, 
the forecast was revised slightly downward by 0.72 percent.  

• Other sources of revenue total $2 million with $897,000 being paid to the general fund in the form 
of interfund payments from other funds.  

 
On the operating expenditure side, the budget is 3 percent, or $215,000, higher than estimated actuals for 
2014. This is due to an increased transfer-in to the parks fund for the city’s new athletics program as well 
as an additional transfer to the long-term debt service fund for debt service. 
 
I am recommending 14 decision cards totaling $523,880 – $504,010 in one-time costs and $19,870 in 
ongoing costs. The decision cards are: 
 

  

 Amount Funded  

Title/Description 
Initiating 

Dept.   One-Time   Ongoing  
Transfer-out to CIP Fund for Aquatic Center remodel Council 100,000 - 
Transfer-out to CIP Fund for CCP sales tax liability Council 100,000 - 
Transfer-out to CIP fund for 164th AVE SE pedestrian project Council 90,000 - 
Transfer-out to CIP Fund for Skate Park renovation Council 60,000 - 
Transfer-out to Parks Fund for demolition of Cedar Creek houses Council 40,000 - 
Additional human services funding Personnel - 10,000 
Council Chambers conference tables Central 1,950 - 
Email archiver Central 5,060 2,450 
ITS Network - Traffic Signals with iNet Service Central - (2,580) 
Microsoft Office Software Upgrade Central - 5,000 
Equipment replacement funds for server Central 5,000 5,000 
Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan Update carryover Central 40,000 - 
Code Publishing Comprehensive Plan Hosting Planning 2,000 - 
Carry-over for Comprehensive Plan Update Planning 60,000 - 
    

  Net Total General Fund   504,010 19,870 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67 of 75



 

 

City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
 
City Hall – 253.480.2400 
www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Street Fund 
There are two main sources of revenue for this fund: Comcast franchise fees and motor vehicle fuel tax. 
Franchise fees are forecasted to increase 6.1percent based on the results of the recently completed 
franchise fee audit.  Fuel tax is forecasted to remain flat for 2015. Base expenditures before decision 
cards are $1,075,478, which is an increase from expected actual expenditures in 2014 of 11.7 percent, 
which is due a change in accounting for interfund service payments.  
 
I am recommending two decision cards totaling $14,835 - $5,000 in one-time costs and $9,835 in ongoing 
costs.   The decision cards are:   

   Amount Funded  

Title/Description 
Initiating 

Dept.   One-Time   Ongoing  
Two Seasonal maintenance workers (9-month) ST                 -         55,935  
Reduction to maintenance contract                   -        (50,600) 

ITS Network - Traffic signals with iNet service ST          5,000           4,500  
        

Net Total Street Fund            5,000           9,835  
 
Given the current level of service and existing revenue sources, the street fund is unsustainable. Creating 
the TBD was an important step in the city’s overall financial strategy to support the street fund.  Council 
and staff will discuss next steps in the near future.  
 
Development Services Fund 
In 2015, we are forecasting a 32.7 percent total increase in revenues over 2014 budget for the entire fund 
due to an increase in single and multi family developments.  Base expenditures are $1,096,538, which is 
an increase from expected expenditures in 2014 of 5.1 percent. 
 
I am not recommending any decision cards for this fund. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68 of 75



 

 

City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
 
City Hall – 253.480.2400 
www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Parks Fund 
Revenues in the parks fund for 2015 are expected to increase by 15.4 percent over 2014 estimates.  This 
is due to increased aquatics revenues as well as the revenues associated with the addition of athletic 
programs. Expenditures show an increase of 11.2 percent primarily due to increased programming at the 
aquatic center and the addition of athletic programs as well as the accounting change for interfund 
service payments.  
 
I am recommending 15 decision cards totaling $111,282 - $61,150 in one-time costs and $50,132 in 
ongoing costs.  The decision cards are:  
 

  

 Amount Funded  

Title/Description 
Initiating 

Dept.   One-Time   Ongoing  
Two Seasonal maintenance workers (9-month) Pk Maint                 -         18,645  
Reduction to maintenance contract                   -        (17,000) 
Program audio equipment replacement Aquatics          1,500                  -  
Aquatic Center printer/copier replacements Aquatics          4,000                  -  
Aquatic Center staff locker replacement Aquatics          5,000                  -  
Aquatic Center art project continuation Recreation                 -           3,500  
Sponsorship marketing program Recreation                 -         14,295  
Gerry Crick Skate Park - public art Recreation            900                  -  
Update and expand community event signs Recreation          3,000                  -  
Increase special event programming Recreation                 -           5,000  
Covington Days generator Recreation          1,200                  -  

Credit card PIN pads Multiple          1,200                  -  
ACTIVENet training Multiple          2,550                  -  
Demolition of Cedar Creek Park houses Parks        40,000                  -  

Transfer-in from General Fund         (40,000)                 -  
Reduction of management/maintenance fees                   -          (6,600) 
Loss of rental revenue                   -         32,292  

PROS plan update Parks        40,000                   -  
CPTED training for Parks Planner Parks          1,800                  -  

        

Net Total Parks Fund          61,150         50,132  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

69 of 75



 

 

City of Covington 
16720 SE 271st St. Suite 100 
Covington, WA 98042 
 
City Hall – 253.480.2400 
www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Surface Water Management Fund (SWM) 
Revenues for SWM are staying pretty much even with the 2014 budget with an increase of 0.47 percent. 
With the approval of the below decision cards we are projecting deficit spending, which is sustainable due 
to the large fund balance, but will need to use the rate study to be thoughtful on how we draw down fund 
balance for capital and one-time uses.  Budgeted expenditures are slightly lower than 2014 estimates at 
0.01percent  
 
I am recommending one decision card totaling $45,515 in one-time costs for additional seasonal 
maintenance workers.   
 

   Amount Funded  

Title/Description 
Initiating 

Dept.   One-Time   Ongoing  
Seasonal maintenance workers SWM        45,515                  -  

        

Net Total Surface Water Management Fund          45,515                  -  
 
Capital Investment Program Fund 
For 2015, I am recommending six decision cards as follows:   
 

   Amount Funded  

Title/Description 
Initiating 

Dept.   One-Time   Ongoing  
Design funds for 164th Ave SE pedestrian improvement project CIP        90,000                  -  
Transfer-in from General Fund         (90,000)                 -  
Covington Community Park Phase 1 sales tax liability CIP      100,000                  -  
Transfer-in from General Fund       (100,000)                 -  
Aquatic Center rental room remodel CIP      324,650                  -  
Department of Commerce grant 

 
    (224,650)   

Transfer-in from General Fund       (100,000)                 -  
Gerry Crick Skate Park renovation CIP        60,000                  -  
Transfer-in from General Fund         (60,000)                 -  
Jenkins Creek Park concept level master plan CIP        50,000                  -  
Parks fee-in-lieu         (50,000)                 -  
Tri-parks concept level master plans CIP        60,000                  -  
Parks fee-in-lieu         (60,000)                 -  

        

Net Capital Investment Program Fund                   -                  -  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

70 of 75



71 of 75



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date:  October 14, 2014 
 

 
DISCUSSION OF  

FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 
 
 
 

8:00 a.m., Saturday, October 25, 2014 Special Meeting – 
Budget Workshop 

 
6:00 p.m., Tuesday, October 28, 2014 Special Meeting – 

Joint Study Session with Arts Commission 
 

7:00 p.m., Tuesday, October 28, 2014 Regular Meeting 
 
 

(Draft Agendas Attached) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

72 of 75



 
 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL BUDGET WORKSHOP 
Council Chambers – 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Saturday, October 25, 2014 – 8:00 a.m. 
(Refreshments beginning @ 7:30 a.m.) 

                                                                                 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION: 
The workshop is an informal meeting involving discussion between and among the City Council and city 
staff regarding presentations and strategies.  Workshops may involve presentations, feedback, 
brainstorming, etc., regarding further work to be done by the staff on key policy matters. 
 
CALL CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
ITEM(S) FOR DISCUSSION 
1. Department 2015 Budget Presentations 
 a. Executive (Hendrickson) 
 b. Finance (Hendrickson) 
 c. Police (Klason) 
 d. Community Development (Hart) 
 e. Public Works (Vondran) 
 f. Parks & Recreation (Thomas) 
 
2. Review Budget Strategies (Hendrickson) 
 
3. Discuss Budget Presentations (Council) 
 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 
Any person requiring disability accommodation should contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in 
advance.  For TDD relay services, please use the state’s toll-free relay service at 800-833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-
480-2400. 

Draft 
as of 10/09/14 

 

73 of 75

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


 
 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL JOINT STUDY SESSION WITH ARTS COMMISSION 
Council Chambers – 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Tuesday, October 28, 2014 – 6:00 p.m. 
                                                                         
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
The study session is an informal meeting involving discussion between and among the City Council, 
Commissioners, and city staff regarding policy issues.  Study sessions may involve presentations, 
feedback, brainstorming, etc., regarding further work to be done by the staff on key policy matters. 
 
CALL CITY COUNCIL JOINT STUDY SESSION TO ORDER 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
ITEM(S) FOR DISCUSSION 
 1. Realizing Public Art in Covington (Lesli Cohan) 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per 
speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 
 
Any person requiring disability accommodation should contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in 
advance.  For TDD relay services, please use the state’s toll-free relay service at 800-833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-
480-2400. 
 
 
*Note* A Regular Council meeting will follow at approximately 7:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

Draft 
as of 10/09/14 

 

74 of 75

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


 
 
 

CITY OF COVINGTON 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

www.covingtonwa.gov 
 

Tuesday, October 28, 2014                                                                                                 City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                                            16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Note:  A Joint Meeting with the Arts Commission is scheduled from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 

ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATION – NONE 

PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, 
not the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes 
per speaker.  Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  September 9, 20414 Regular Meeting; September 23, 2014 Regular Meeting; and 

October 14, 2014 Regular Meeting (Scott) 
C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson)  
 
REPORTS OF COMMISSIONS 

• Human Services Chair Fran McGregor:  October 9 meeting. 
• Parks & Recreation Chair Steven Pand:  October 15 meeting. 
• Arts Chair Lesli Cohan:  October 9 meeting. 
• Economic Development Council Co-Chair Jeff Wagner:  October 23 meeting; September 25 

meeting canceled. 
• Future Meetings:  Planning:  Next meeting November 6; both October meetings canceled. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 
1. Receive Testimony from the Public Regarding 2015 Revenues Sources and Possible Increase in  

Property Tax Revenues (Hendrickson/Parker) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Aquatic Center Temporary Art Selection (Patterson) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
 
ADJOURN 
For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD relay 
service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 

Draft 
as of 10/09/14 

 

75 of 75

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�

	10-14-2014 Regular Meeting Agenda
	Tuesday, October 14, 2014                                                                                                 City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Consent C-1 Green Sheet 10-14-2014 Green Sheet Minutes Approval
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent C-1 Attachment 08.12.2014 Regular Meeting Minutes
	Consent C-2 Green Sheet 10-14-2014 Voucher Green Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-2

	Consent C-2 Attachments
	Consent C-3 Green Sheet 10-14-14 Authorize Supplement 2 for CIP 1127
	Consent Agenda Item C-3

	Consent C-3 Attachment 1 Att. 1 - Supplemental Agreement 2
	Consent C-3 Attachment 2 Att. 2 - Local Agency Agreement Supplement 2
	Consent C-4 Green Sheet Parks ILA with WA DNR for Tree Maintenance
	Consent Agenda Item C-4

	Consent C-4 Attachment 1
	Agenda Item 1 Blue Sheet 10-14-2014 CEDC Appointment
	Agenda Item 1

	Future Agenda Cover Sheet for Two Meetings
	10-25-2014 Budget Workshop Agenda
	Saturday, October 25, 2014 – 8:00 a.m.
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	10-28-2014 Special Joint Meeting w-Arts Commission Agenda
	Tuesday, October 28, 2014 – 6:00 p.m.
	ROLL CALL
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	10-28-2014 Regular Meeting Agenda.pdf
	Tuesday, October 28, 2014                                                                                                 City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMUNICATION – NONE

	Agenda Item 2 Blue Sheet 10-14-14 2015 Budget Presentation.pdf
	Agenda Item 2




